Obesity and Cancer

A Guide for Oncology Providers







ABOUT ASCO

The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) is the world's leading professional organization representing physicians of all oncology subspecialties who care for people with cancer. ASCO's more than 35,000 members from the United States and abroad set the standard for patient care worldwide and lead the fight for more effective cancer treatments, increased funding for clinical and translational research, and, ultimately, cures for the many different types of cancer that strike an estimated 12 million people worldwide each year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ASCO ENERGY BALANCE WORK GROUP:

Jennifer Ligibel, MD, Dana Farber Cancer Institute *Chair* Catherine Alfano, PhD, National Cancer Institute Robert Burger, MD, Fox Chase Cancer Center Rowan Chlebowski, MD, PhD, Harbor UCLA Medical Center Kerry Courneya, PhD, University of Alberta Wendy Demark Wahnefried, PhD, RD, University of Alabama at Birmingham Comprehensive Cancer Center Carol Fabian, MD, University of Kansas Medical Center Ayca Gucalp, MD, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center Dawn Hershman, MD, Columbia University Medical Center Melissa Hudson, MD, St. Jude Children s Research Hospital Lee Jones, PhD, Duke University Medical Center Madhuri Kakarala, MD, PhD, Van Andel Institute Kirsten Ness, PhD, St. Jude Children s Research Hospital

Support for this program is funded through:



THE ASCO OBESITY & CANCER TOOLKIT IS GENEROUSLY SUPPORTED BY:





Obesity and Cancer

Table of Contents

1. Background	4
2. Obesity and the Link to Cancer	_
Risk and Outcomes	5
Impact of Obesity on Treatment	6
Impact of Cancer Treatment on Weight	7
Weight and Physical Activity Patterns in Cancer Survivors	7
3. Strategies to Promote Weight Loss and/or Prevention of Weight Gain in Cancer Survivors	8
Lifestyle Interventions	9
Weight Loss Drugs	10
Surgery for Weight Loss	10
4. Implementation of Weight Loss and Weight Maintenance Strategies in Cancer Survivors	11
Strategies for Weight Management in Cancer Survivors: Who, What, When?	11
Optimizing the "Teachable Moment" and Defining the Role of the Oncologist and the Oncology Team	17
Identifying Local Resources	18

Rehabilitation Services for Cancer Patients	19
Additional Resources for Patients and Families	20
5. Clinical Practice Guidelines	21
American Cancer Society Guidelines	21
American College of Sports Medicine Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors	21
National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight	
and Obesity in Adults	21
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Obesity Prevention Strategies	22
6. Coverage & Reimbursement	23
Medicare	23
Medicaid & State Insurance Coverage of Obesity-Related Services	24
Obesity-Related Provisions in the Affordable Care Act	24
References	25

The ideas and opinions expressed in this guide do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO). The mention of any product, service, or therapy herein should not be construed as an endorsement of the products mentioned. The information is provided solely for informational purposes; it does not constitute medical or legal advice, and is not intended for use in the diagnosis or treatment of individual conditions or as a substitute for consultation with a licensed medical professional. Links to third party websites are provided for your convenience, and ASCO does not endorse and is not responsible for any content, advertising or other material available from such sites. ASCO assumes no responsibility for any injury or damage to persons or property arising out of or related to any use of these materials or to any errors or omissions.

1. Background



The prevalence of obesity in the United States has increased dramatically since 1990, with more than one-third of U.S. adults (more than 72 million people) and 17% of U.S. children and adolescents categorized as obese.^{1,2} Obesity is even more prevalent in some ethnic, racial and socioeconomic groups; for example, 54% of non-Hispanic Black women over the age of 20 were found to be obese in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey.³

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention includes overweight and obesity as labels for ranges of weight that are greater than what is generally considered healthy for a given height.⁴ The terms identify ranges of weight that have been shown to increase the likelihood of

diseases and chronic health conditions. Obesity itself has also recently been categorized as a disease-state by the American Medical Association. For adults, overweight and obesity ranges are determined by using weight and height to calculate body mass index (BMI). BMI (kg/m²) is used because, for most people, it correlates with their amount of body fat. Although there is increased debate on the precise definition of obesity⁵ the World Health Organization categorizes overweight and obesity in adults as:

BMI	BMI Categories
Greater than or equal to 25	Overweight
30 and above	Obese

The World Health Organization estimates that more than 1.5 billion adults worldwide are overweight or obese. Once considered a problem only in high-income countries, overweight and obesity are now dramatically on the rise in low- and middle-income countries, particularly in urban settings. Researchers agree several factors are behind the overall rise in calorie intake per day, including the rising consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and an increase in portion size. At the same time there has been a decline in physical activity, in part due to increased automation and increasing adoption of "Western" lifestyles.

Obesity increases the risk of several major non-communicable diseases, including cardiovascular disease, cancer, and diabetes, and increases rates of mortality in individuals with these diseases. Obesity contributes to two-thirds of all heart disease, and more than 80% of people with type 2 diabetes are overweight.^{3,6} Obesity is quickly overtaking tobacco as the leading preventable cause of cancer. More than 40,000 cancer diagnoses each year are attributed to obesity, and overweight and obesity are implicated in 15% to 20% of all cancer-related mortality.⁷ In 2008, medical costs associated with obesity were estimated at \$147 billion.⁸

2. Obesity and the Link to Cancer Risk and Outcomes

Research on the relationship between obesity and cancer has increased dramatically in the last several years. Though data are still emerging and obesity is not linked to an increased risk of developing all types of cancer, research suggests that the risk of developing and dying from many common cancers is increased in obese individuals.^{9,10}

Obesity is also linked to poorer cancer outcomes, including higher risk of recurrence and cancer-specific and overall mortality.¹¹⁻¹⁴ There is some suggestion that weight gain after cancer diagnosis leads to poor outcomes, although data are less consistent.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ The data linking obesity to poor outcomes is strongest in breast, prostate and colorectal cancers (see table 2.1), but emerging data suggest that obesity may be a prognostic factor in other malignancies as well, including childhood leukemia.

Obesity is also a risk factor for the development of comorbid illness in cancer survivors.

- Obesity increases the risk of developing heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, and diabetes, among other medical issues
- Obesity places individuals at increased risk of developing second primary malignancies.¹⁸



TABLE 2.1: EVIDENCE SUPPORTING LINKS BETWEEN OBESITY AND PROGNOSIS IN SPECIFIC MALIGNANCIES

Cancer Type	Evidence
Breast	 Obesity at diagnosis is linked to a 33% increase in the risk of breast cancer related and overall mortality in pre- and postmenopausal women with early-stage breast cancer.^{11,19,20} Poor prognosis in obese breast cancer patients continues to be seen in individuals treated with anthracyclines and taxane-based treatment regimens and aromatase inhibitors, suggesting that the poor outcomes seen in obese individuals are independent of treatment factors.²¹⁻²⁴
Colorectal	 Data regarding the relationship between weight and colon cancer outcomes have been mixed.^{17,25} A recent meta-analysis of seven adjuvant chemotherapy trials for patients with stage II and III colorectal cancer treated with fluorouracil-based therapy found men with class II and III obesity (BMI ≥35kg/m²) and women with Class I obesity (BMI ≥30kg/m²) had significantly worse overall survival as compared to normal weight individuals.¹²
Prostate	 Obesity is associated with the development of biologically more aggressive and advanced prostate cancer.²⁶ The extent of body fatness and weight gain before/around the time of prostate cancer diagnosis is associated with an increased risk of recurrence and death.²⁷ Obesity is associated with reduced response to prostate cancer treatment.^{13,14}
Childhood Ieukemia	 Obesity may be linked to poor outcomes in children with acute leukemia.^{28,29} Being overweight/obese before hematopoietic cell transplantation is associated with lower survival and higher rates of acute graft-versus-host disease and treatment- related mortality.³⁰⁻³⁵

Impact of Obesity on Treatment

Obesity presents a number of practical challenges in the detection of cancer and its effect on local and systemic treatment.

- Obese patients are more likely to delay seeking medical care and less likely to participate in cancer screening programs or receive preventive testing.³⁶⁻⁴¹
- Obesity can influence the accuracy of cancer diagnostics secondary to factors such as hemodilution of tumor biomarkers⁴² and reduced imaging quality.^{43,44}
- Obesity poses technical challenges in terms of both radiation therapy^{45,46} and surgical management
 of cancer patients^{47,48} and may be associated with higher rates of toxicity⁴⁹ and certain surgical
 complications.⁵⁰
- Obesity is linked with an increased risk of thromboembolism in individuals receiving chemotherapy.⁵¹

Impact of Cancer Treatment on Weight

Many cancer survivors experience weight gain after cancer diagnosis. Weight gain is most common in individuals treated with chemotherapy, especially when chemotherapy includes steroid administration or when chemotherapy results in premature menopause for a previously premenopausal woman.52-54 Many individuals will also experience changes in body composition after cancer diagnosis. "Sarcopenic obesity" refers to a loss of muscle mass and concomitant gain of adipose tissue. This is common in individuals receiving chemotherapy and can also be seen in men treated with androgendeprivation therapy for prostate cancer.55,56



Weight and Physical Activity Patterns in Cancer Survivors

Many cancer survivors are overweight or obese and do not engage in regular physical activity. More than twothirds of survivors of breast, prostate, gynecologic and other cancers are overweight and obese, and fewer than one-third of cancer survivors meet recommended levels of physical activity.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ Similarly, in pediatric and adolescent cancer survivors, studies have reported suboptimal dietary patterns and less-than-recommended levels of exercise among children with cancer⁶⁰ and among young survivors of childhood cancer.⁶¹⁻⁶⁸ Although these patterns are consistent with our society as a whole, these behaviors may have important consequences for cancer survivors.

3. Strategies to Promote Weight Loss and/or Prevention of Weight Gain in Cancer Survivors



Although studies have linked obesity to cancer risk and prognosis, there are currently no data from large-scale trials testing the impact of weight loss on the risk of developing or dying from cancer. However, a number of studies have tested weight loss strategies in cancer populations as well as individuals at risk of developing cancer.⁶⁹⁻⁷² Behavioral strategies, targeting calorie restriction and increased physical activity, have been tested in cancer survivors, especially in women with a history of breast cancer. Other strategies, including bariatric surgery and weight loss drugs, have been tested in non-cancer populations, but experience with these methods of weight loss are limited in cancer populations.

TABLE 3.1: GUIDE TO SELECTING TREATMENT*

Treatment	BMI Category				
	25-26.9	27-29.9	30-34.9	35-39.69	≥ 40
Diet, physical activity and behavioral therapy	With comorbidities	With comorbidities	+	+	+
Pharmacotherapy		With comorbidities	+	+	+
Surgery			With	comorbidit	ies

Prevention of weight gain with lifestyle therapy is indicated in any patient with a BMI \ge 25 kg/m², even without comorbidities, while weight loss is not necessarily recommended for those with a BMI of 25-29.9 kg/m² or a high waist circumference, unless they have two or more comorbidities.

Combined therapy with a low-calorie diet, increased physical activity, and behavioral therapy provide the most successful intervention for weight loss and weight maintenance.

Consider pharmacotherapy only if a patient has not lost 1 pound per week after 6 months of combined lifestyle therapy.

The + represents the use of indicated treatment regardless of comorbidities.

*Table 3 of The Practical Guide: Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults⁷³



Lifestyle Interventions

Calorie restriction, increased physical activity and behavioral counseling are the cornerstones of weight management and should be recommended as the primary means of achieving weight loss.

A number of intervention studies have been performed in cancer populations and have demonstrated that weight loss can be achieved through lifestyle changes after cancer diagnosis.

- Lifestyle change (calorie restriction +/- exercise) generally produces weight loss of 5-7% of body weight.^{69,70,74,75} Weight loss of this magnitude has been shown to reduce the incidence of other disease, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^{74,76}
- Weight loss programs have focused on low-calorie, low-fat, low-carbohydrate and Mediterranean pattern diets; there are currently insufficient data to support one type of diet over another.
- Physical activity alone does not typically result in significant weight loss,⁷¹ but combining increased physical activity and calorie restriction may lead to more significant or more sustained weight loss when compared to caloric restriction alone.

Weight Loss Drugs

Historically, drugs manufactured to help individuals lose weight have been only moderately successful, and several have been pulled off the market for safety reasons. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) has concluded that because of safety problems and a lack of data showing that people can keep weight off after discontinuing diet medications, the task force cannot recommend the use of diet drugs.



There has been a recent increase in release and availability of pharmaceutical agents designed to result in weight loss, including lorcaserin, a drug that acts on serotonin receptors to induce satiety, and another that combines phentermine and topiramate. A third drug is being tested that combines bupropion with naltrexone. **While these drugs show promise, there are currently no safety data in cancer survivors.** The drugs are also notably expensive, and should only be considered to promote weight loss when lifestyle change has been unsuccessful and when patients suffer from other comorbidities that increase the risk of obesity-related mortality.

Surgery for Weight Loss

Bariatric surgery is an option for patients who are either severely obese (BMI \ge 40) or have a BMI \ge 35 with a serious comorbid condition, when diet and exercise interventions alone have failed to achieve a sustained weight loss and the patient is at high risk for obesity-related morbidity and mortality.⁷³ However, weight loss after surgery is not certain and still requires a commitment to change in lifestyle and dietary behaviors to achieve success. Bariatric surgery should generally only be considered after other steps to reduce weight have been attempted.

Studies suggest that bariatric surgery is an effective intervention for weight loss and for preventing comorbid conditions, including cardiovascular disease and cancer. However, the procedure is a major surgery and carries risk. Considerations regarding bariatric surgery should be coordinated with a patient's primary care provider.

4. Implementation of Weight Loss and Weight Maintenance Strategies in Cancer Survivors

Strategies for Weight Management in Cancer Survivors: Who, What, When?

Knowing how and when to initiate a conversation about weight management is an important first step to helping patients lose weight and lead healthier lives after a cancer diagnosis. A practical approach to weight management in cancer patients and survivors could include the following:

- 1. **ASSESS** your patients' weight by evaluating their body mass index.
- 2. ADVISE your patients to lose weight if you determine they are overweight or obese and weight loss is not contraindicated because of disease state or treatment. Weight loss is generally not recommended for patients living with advanced disease, or for patients for whom cancer treatment may lead to inability to consume or digest sufficient calories (e.g. head and neck cancer patients). Encourage regular exercise and healthy eating at all points from diagnosis to long-term follow up in all patients, regardless of weight and discuss the possibility of weight gain when patients initiate adjuvant therapy
- 3. **REFER** patients to appropriate services.



ASSESS

Assessing a patients' BMI is easily done during an office visit and does not require special equipment. BMI can be discerned from a chart (see below) or can be calculated by dividing an individual's weight (in kilograms) by height (in meters) squared. Overweight is categorized as a BMI greater than or equal to 25; obese is categorized as a BMI greater than 30.

	NORMAL WEIGHT OVERWEIGHT OBES							OVERWEIGHT				ESE					
BMI	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35
Height							Во	dy We	eight	(poun	ds)						
4'10	91	96	100	105	110	115	119	124	129	134	138	143	148	153	158	162	167
4'11	94	99	104	109	114	119	124	128	133	138	143	148	153	158	163	168	173
5'0	97	102	107	112	118	123	128	133	138	143	148	153	158	163	168	174	179
5'1	100	106	111	116	122	127	132	137	143	148	153	158	164	169	174	180	185
5'2	104	109	115	120	126	131	136	142	147	153	158	164	169	175	180	186	191
5'3	107	113	118	124	130	135	141	146	152	158	163	169	175	180	186	191	197
5'4	110	116	122	128	134	140	145	151	157	163	169	174	180	186	192	197	204
5'5	114	120	126	132	138	144	150	156	162	168	174	180	186	192	198	204	210
5'6	118	124	130	136	142	148	155	161	167	173	179	186	192	198	204	210	216
5'7	121	127	134	140	146	153	159	166	172	178	185	191	198	204	211	217	223
5'8	125	131	138	144	151	158	164	171	177	184	190	197	203	210	216	223	230
5'9	128	135	142	149	155	162	169	176	182	189	196	203	209	216	223	230	236
5'10	132	139	146	153	160	167	174	181	188	195	202	209	216	222	229	236	243
5'11	136	143	150	157	165	172	179	186	193	200	206	215	222	229	236	243	250
6'0	140	147	154	162	169	177	184	191	199	206	213	221	228	235	242	250	258
6'1	144	151	159	166	174	182	189	197	204	212	219	227	235	242	250	257	265
6'2	148	155	163	171	179	186	194	202	210	216	225	233	241	249	256	264	272

ADVISE

There are opportunities to address weight management with patients along the cancer trajectory. There is currently little information to provide a framework regarding the right time and best goals for individual patients, but evidence from clinical trials suggests the following:

- 1. Many patients will gain weight and body fat and experience associated loss of muscle mass after cancer diagnosis.
- 2. Exercise programs are feasible and safe for most cancer patients across the cancer trajectory. Providers should encourage patients to engage in or increase physical activity.
 - a. Studies during cancer treatment demonstrate that both endurance (aerobic) and strengthtraining (resistance) exercise are safe and lead to a number of benefits including better quality of life and less fatigue. Some studies also suggest that exercise programs during therapy can prevent loss of lean muscle mass and gain of body fat.
 - b. Regular exercise is safe in survivors following the completion of primary therapy and should be recommended in the years after active treatment.
 - c. Endurance exercise is safe in the post-transplant period, but use of community gyms/ fitness centers is generally not recommended due to risk for infection.
- 3. Weight loss programs involving caloric restriction with or without an exercise component have been studied primarily in breast cancer survivors, where they have been shown to be feasible and effective. Overweight and obese cancer survivors should be encouraged to participate in weight loss programs after completion of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation.
- 4. Weight loss or maintenance programs during chemotherapy and radiation have not been well-studied. Pilot studies suggest such programs are feasible in breast cancer patients during adjuvant chemotherapy.

HOW DO I APPROACH MY PATIENT ABOUT WEIGHT MANAGEMENT?

Although there is no "one size fits all" approach to discussing weight management with patients, below are some suggestions that may be useful in initiating a dialogue about weight:

 Approach weight management in a neutral manner. Include weight change as part of a review of systems during survivorship visits. Tell the patient what their BMI is and show it to them on the chart.





- Initiate a conversation about weight management by discussing the need to keep healthy while undergoing treatment. Ask patients if they are exercising and use this as an introduction to discussing diet and weight issues.
- 3. Listen to what your patients are saying; many will bring up their frustration with weight gain or changes in body habitus without prompting.
- Patients concerns about persistent side effects such as fatigue can provide an opportunity to bring up the effects of increased exercise and weight loss in improving ongoing side effects of cancer therapy.
- 5. Discuss the possibility of weight change as a potential side effect of chemotherapy and other cancer treatments. Ask patients about changes in weight during treatment visits to establish this as a "norm" and facilitate patient communication about their concerns regarding weight change.
- 6. If a patient is not receptive to a discussion about weight management, stop the conversation and consider approaching this topic in a different way on a subsequent visit. It may take multiple attempts to ready patients to change their lifestyle behaviors. Even if a patient is not receptive to the message, it is still helpful for the oncology provider to provide the information.

INDIVIDUALIZING THE APPROACH: RESPONDING TO WEIGHT LOSS CHALLENGES

Although many patients seek out weight loss and ways to make lifestyle changes after cancer diagnosis, some patients may articulate reasons why they are not ready to make changes in behavior in order to achieve a healthy weight, or they may not understand that there are steps they can take to lose weight while still undergoing active treatment.

TABLE 4.1: CHALLENGES TO WEIGHT LOSS ARTICULATED BY PATIENTSAND SAMPLE PROVIDER RESPONSES

Challenge	Provider Responses
"I've tried	Losing weight can definitely be challenging. Let's talk about what you have tried
everything and just	before. Many people find weight loss easier if they take part in a structured weight
can't lose weight."	loss program, or if they work with a dietitian rather than trying to do things on their
	own. Let's talk about trying something different this time if your attempts before
	have not been successful.

Challenge	Provider Responses
"I don't really want to exercise."	Starting an exercise program can seem daunting, and sometimes cancer treatments can leave patients feeling tired and unmotivated. Some patients may also have physical impediments to exercise as a result of their cancer or cancer treatment. However, research shows that the best way to get your energy back is to start exercising. There are ways to begin an exercise program that make it easier, both mentally and physically. Pick an exercise you enjoy, and start slowly. If you have been very inactive, start with only 10 minutes a day and increase the time gradually. Enlist the support of friends and family to help you get moving. If you have physical limitations that make exercise difficult, working with a rehabilitation specialist or a physical therapist can be a helpful way to start being more physically active.
"I'm already stressed about dealing with my cancer."	Dealing with cancer definitely can put a person under a lot of stress. Part of this is because there are many aspects of cancer and cancer treatment that you can't control. Studies have shown that exercise can help alleviate stress and help with depression, so increasing exercise in the months and years after cancer diagnosis can be a way to reduce stress. Focusing on losing weight and exercising can also help people feel more in control of their lives after being diagnosed with cancer, because these are things that you can control and that will help you feel better and be healthier.
"The harm has already been done."	Many studies have shown that things that people do after their cancer diagnosis— the amount of exercise they do, the food they eat—are linked to the risk of cancer returning. While it is true that living a healthier life after being diagnosed with cancer won't erase the fact that the cancer happened in the first place, it may make it less likely that you will have to deal with cancer again in the future. A healthy lifestyle after cancer diagnosis can also prevent other medical problems like diabetes and heart disease, which are common in cancer survivors and may pose a greater threat to overall health than cancer recurrence in many malignancies.
"I enjoy eating and don't want to change my diet."	You still can enjoy the foods you love. The goal is to cut your calories and help you eat a healthier diet. Working with a dietitian can help you to lose weight while eating the foods that you want to.
"Now is not a good time to talk about my weight and physical activity level."	Weight and physical activity are important for cancer survivors, but I recognize that you have a lot to think about right now. I am going to continue to remind you how important these things can be when I see you. If you decide before our next visit that you would like some more information about ways to live a healthier life after being diagnosed with cancer, please call my office. I am happy to talk to you about this any time.

In addition to the barriers articulated by patients outlined above, some patients face socioeconomic disparities that limit their access to healthy food and physical activity opportunities.⁷⁷ Income level and geographic location can have a substantial impact on individuals' ability to make healthier choices and should be considered when discussing weight loss options with patients. Ongoing research will help inform best practices for developing tailored programs to help patients of diverse backgrounds make healthy lifestyle changes after cancer diagnosis. Until this information is available, making patients aware of the links between obesity and cancer and helping them to identify local resources to help initiate lifestyle change after cancer diagnosis is recommended.

Providers themselves may experience barriers to addressing weight with their patients. Table 4.2 identifies provider challenges and offers solutions.

Challenge	Solution
Physicians or nurses who themselves are overweight or do not engage in regular physical activity may feel hypocritical discussing weight or lifestyle issues with a patient. ⁷⁸	Everyone struggles with lifestyle issues to some degree. Discussing the evidence linking weight and other lifestyle factors to cancer does not necessarily mean that a provider has mastered those behaviors in his or her own life. By sharing one's own experiences in managing weight and working to fit in exercise and consume a healthy diet, a provider can foster an environment of understanding and support for the patient that may help facilitate behavior change.
Providers are facing ever-increasing demands on the time allotted for each patient visit and discussing weight may not be a priority.	As evidence grows both regarding the links between obesity and cancer and the power of lifestyle change to mitigate toxicities of therapy and improve quality of life in cancer survivors, the need to address lifestyle factors during oncology clinic visits becomes more pressing. Tools to help facilitate meaningful interactions around weight and other lifestyle factors can help providers efficiently underscore the need for lifestyle change in cancer survivors and help guide patients to the resources they need to address these issues. Oncology providers do not need to try to deliver weight management counseling, but alerting patients to the link between obesity and cancer outcomes and referring them to the proper services can be instrumental in helping patients lose weight after cancer diagnosis.
Male providers may feel uncomfortable discussing weight with female patients.	Weight can be a sensitive topic, as can many other topics faced by providers and cancer patients. By broaching the subject of weight management in a neutral way, listening to the patient's own concerns regarding these issues and creating a non-judgmental environment to discuss these topics, providers can help overcome the stigma of excess weight for their patients.

TABLE 4.2: PROVIDER CHALLENGES TO ENGAGING IN WEIGHT LOSS DISCUSSIONS WITH PATIENTS

Challenge	Solution
Due to a perception of	Providers need not provide on-going counseling to patients regarding lifestyle
inadequate training in	changes, but rather identify the issue and help guide the patient to appropriate
this area, providers may	resources to assist the patient in achieving weight loss. A referral back to the
not feel well-equipped to	patient's primary care physician, to a weight loss program or to a dietician with
counsel patients on diet	expertise in weight loss counseling could be a good start.
and exercise. ⁷⁸	

Optimizing the "Teachable Moment" and Defining the Role of the Oncologist and the Oncology Team

Although behavior change is never easy, a cancer diagnosis may serve as a "teachable moment," a term used by behavioral scientists to describe naturally occurring life transitions or health events that have the potential to motivate individuals to adopt risk-reducing or health-protective behaviors. However, while research shows that the impact of a cancer diagnosis can last years after the event,^{3,79,80} for others the emotional impetus needed to spur behavior change dissipates rapidly. This means that the oncologist, the provider with whom a patient has the closest relationship in the critical period after a cancer diagnosis, may be in a unique position to help patients lose weight and make other healthy lifestyle changes. Additionally, the oncology team as a whole can play a valuable role in supporting this process.





BILL WIPPERT

It is critical to enlist the whole treatment team in assessing weight and helping patients to initiate lifestyle change after cancer diagnosis. It also is important to recognize that long-lasting behavior change will require partnerships between oncologists and other specialties. By introducing these topics at a time when patients may be looking to lead healthier lives and providing regular reinforcement during follow up visits, oncology providers may be able to help patients use their cancer diagnoses as an impetus to make long-lasting behavioral changes.

REFER

It is not expected that oncology providers will have the resources or expertise to provide weight loss counseling or services within their practice. Knowing what is available, both locally and online, will assist providers in being able to refer patients to appropriate services in order to help them achieve a healthy lifestyle.

Identifying Local Resources

Primary care practices in your area may be able to offer counseling services for obesity. Though these services generally are covered when provided in the primary care setting, not all practices will be equipped to do so; it is therefore best to develop relationships within your local medical community to know which services are available and where.

A referral to a dietitian is also a good first step in helping patients develop a weight loss program. Dietitians who are appropriately trained in oncology nutrition can prescribe dietary regimens that balance the need for weight management with other nutritional concerns. Dietitians who are members of the oncology nutrition dietetic practice group of the American Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics can be located by searching under oncology/cancer, city, state and zip code using the following link: http://www.eatright.org/programs/rdfinder/. Those who have successfully undergone advanced training are designed as certified specialists in oncology nutrition (CSO).

Medline Plus (http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/directories.html), a service offered through the U.S. National Library of Medicine and National Institutes of Health, provides links to a number of searchable directories to assist in locating healthcare professionals specializing in various aspects of the field of obesity. Additionally, Medline Plus can assist in locating services and treatment facilities.

Many hospitals are taking an active role in improving the health of their local populations. Your community hospital may offer resources for your patients including free or reduced-cost nutrition courses, weight loss programs, and even access to fresh fruits and vegetables. Some exercise facilities and hospitals offer low cost exercise programs for cancer survivors such as the LIVE**STRONG** at YMCA program. Further, because it is a major issue not only for individuals but also for communities, local health departments provide a key role in addressing obesity, and often offer programs and resources to influence behavior change. These departments may be able to assist in locating local farmer's markets and safe opportunities for physical activity. As well, local park and recreation agencies have trail maps and often offer low-cost recreation center memberships.

Rehabilitation Services for Cancer Patients

An increasing number of hospitals are offering programs to provide cancer patients with comprehensive rehabilitation services, to help address a variety of treatmentrelated conditions and symptoms such as pain, weakness, fatigue, lymphedema, and chemotherapyinduced peripheral neuropathy. These services may be covered by Medicare and private insurance when performed by rehabilitative medicine specialists including physiatrists, rehabilitation nurses, and physical,



occupational, and speech therapists. It is important to note that these services are still not available for many cancer patients and are only available in a limited number of practices. Additionally, unlike cardiac rehabilitative services, which include exercise and nutrition counseling, the cancer rehabilitation model is not geared toward obesity prevention or reduction. These services can be helpful, however, for patients who are experiencing significant toxicities from cancer therapy that may make it difficult to initiate a weight management program.

Additional Resources for Patients and Families

A variety of free or low-cost resources are available nationally to assist patients and their families with losing weight and improving their health.

TABLE 4.3: LINKS TO NATIONALLY AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Resource	Cost	Link
USDA: ChooseMyPlate This USDA website offers a variety of resources, from tips on weight management and calorie tracking to tracking tools that allow a user to record daily physical activity and diet.	Free	http://www.choosemyplate.gov
LIVESTRONG at the YMCA LIVESTRONG at the YMCA is a twelve-week, small group program designed to help adult cancer survivors become more physically active after cancer diagnosis	Free at most locations; check with local YMCA	http://www.livestrong.org/What-We-Do/ Our-Actions/Programs-Partnerships/ LIVESTRONG-at-the-YMCA/LIVESTRONG-at-the- YMCA-Locations
Obesity Action Coalition (OAC) The OAC offers a wide variety of brochures and guides on obesity and related topics.	Free	http://www.obesityaction.org/educational- resources/brochures-and-guides
We Can! A website run by the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NIDDK) offering a variety of resources on healthy and active lifestyles.	Free	http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/ obesity/wecan
Fit Day This website offers articles on nutrition and fitness, as well as provides tools to help participants create an online journal to count calories and track eating habits	Free	http://www.fitday.com
American Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics A referral to oncology care nutritionists.	Cost dependent on medical insurance	http://www.eatright.org/programs/rdfinder
Weight-control Information Network (WIN) An information resource offered by NIDDK; includes links to online publications grouped by Public, Providers, Groups and Communities, and those available in Spanish.	Free	http://win.niddk.nih.gov/publications/index.htm
Cómo Alimentarse y Mantenerse Activo Durante Toda La Vida A Spanish-language website offered through WIN.	Free	http://win.niddk.nih.gov/publications/ para_adultos.htm

5. Clinical Practice Guidelines

American Cancer Society (ACS) Guidelines

The American Cancer Society Guidelines for Nutrition and Physical Activity serve as a foundation for the group's communication, policy, and community strategies around nutrition and physical activity as a means to prevent cancer. These guidelines reflect the most current scientific evidence related to dietary and activity patterns and cancer risk.

http://www.cancer.org/healthy/eathealthygetactive/ acsguidelinesonnutritionphysicalactivityforcancerprevention/acs-guidelines-on-nutrition-and-physicalactivity-for-cancer-prevention-intro

The ACS also offers guidelines specifically for survivors and caregivers on the role of nutrition and physical activity after a cancer diagnosis. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.3322/caac.21142/full

American College of Sports Medicine Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors

This report details the important role that exercise plays in cancer control and survivorship, and provides a framework for providers interested in implementing physical activity programs for cancer survivors both during and after completion of active cancer treatment. http://journals.lww.com/acsm-msse/ Fulltext/2010/07000/American_College_of_Sports_ Medicine_Roundtable_on.23.aspx



National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults

The NHLBI, in cooperation with the National Institutes of Health released the first federal guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity. http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/ob_home.htm http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/prctgd_c.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Obesity Prevention Strategies

To reverse the obesity epidemic, the CDC has developed numerous recommended strategies to prevent obesity including guides to increase physical activity and the consumption of fruits and vegetables. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/resources/recommendations.html#Obesity

CDC guidelines for pediatric cancer survivors encourage parents to limit their child's media time to 1-2 hours quality programming per day, avoid foods with added sugars, fat and salt, encourage fruits and vegetable intake, and substitute water for drinks with added sugar (http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/ solutions.html). The CDC guidelines also recommend that children participate in one or more hours per day of physical activity.

6. Coverage & Reimbursement

Medicare

INTENSIVE BEHAVIORAL COUNSELING

In 2012, CMS added intensive behavioral counseling for adult obesity, a grade B recommendation of the USPSTF, as a covered service **only when provided by a primary care physician or practitioner in a primary care setting.** CMS defines a primary care setting as one where services are provided by clinicians "who are accountable for addressing a large majority of personal health care needs, developing a sustained partnership with patients, and practicing in the context of family and community". CMS defines a primary care practitioner as one who has a primary specialty designation of family medicine, internal medicine, geriatric medicine, obstetrics/gynecology, or pediatric medicine or is a nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or physician assistant.

MEDICAL NUTRITION THERAPY

CMS also provides coverage for Medical Nutrition Therapy (MNT) only to individuals with kidney disease or diabetes. MNT is defined as a specifically tailored dietary plan developed and monitored by a registered dietitian or nutrition provider who meets certain requirements as defined by CMS. This service is covered when delivered by a registered dietitian or nutrition professional according to nutrition practice guidelines.



BARIATRIC SURGERY

To qualify for coverage, individuals must meet the following criteria:

- Have a BMI of 35 or greater
- Have at least one weight-related problem (diabetes, heart disease or sleep apnea)
- Have documented evidence of repeated failure to lose weight in medically supervised weight loss programs (diet, exercise programs/counseling or drug therapy)

Additionally, bariatric surgery will only be covered if:

- · Individuals undergo psychological evaluation
- · All other medical treatments have been ruled out
- The surgery is performed at a Medicare-approved "Center of Excellence"
- The specific procedure used is approved by Medicare

OTHER TREATMENTS

Medicare does not cover the services of an exercise therapist or trainer, or physical exercise classes. And, as yet, Medicare Part D does not cover drugs for the treatment of obesity.

Medicaid & State Insurance Coverage of Obesity-Related Services



A recent study found that very few states ensure coverage of recommended treatments for adult and pediatric obesity through Medicaid or private insurance.⁸¹

- Only eight state Medicaid programs appear to cover all recommended obesity treatment modalities for adults.
- Eligible children under Medicaid have coverage for comprehensive obesity services through the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment program; however is not clear whether states are actually covering necessary services.

To learn more about your state's Medicaid plan and to find your state's Medicaid agency information, visit: http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-State/By-State.html.

Obesity-Related Provisions in the Affordable Care Act

OBESITY SCREENING WITH NO CO-PAY

As part of the preventive services benefit, the ACA requires CMS and most private insurance to provide coverage for screening for obesity and counseling services that are evidence-based and have a rating of "A" or "B" in the current USPSTF recommendations, without co-pay to members. An "A" or "B" letter grade indicates that the Task Force finds there is high certainty that the services have a substantial or moderate net benefit. However, this service is only covered when provided by primary care practitioners.

OBESITY TREATMENT AS AN ESSENTIAL HEALTH BENEFIT

The Affordable Care Act establishes ten categories of essential health benefits, one of which is "preventive and wellness services and chronic disease management." However, this category is not well defined and does not address obesity specifically. The impact of the ACA on access to obesity treatment services is unclear at this time.

References

- Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. JAMA 2012;307:491-7.
- Ogden C. L, Carroll MD, Curtin LR. Prevelance of high body mass index in US children and adolescents, 2007-2008. JAMA 2010;303:242-9.
- National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. 2012. (Accessed at http://www.cdc.gov/ nchs/data/hus/hus12.pdf.)
- Defining Overweight and Obesity. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014. (Accessed at http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/defining.html.)
- Shah N. R, Braverman ER. Measuring Adiposity in Patients: The Utility of Body Mass Index (BMI), Percent Body Fat, and Leptin. PLoS ONE 2012;7:e33308.
- Diabetes Overview. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, 2014. (Accessed April 8, 2014, at http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/pubs/ overview/.)
- 7. United States Cancer Statistics. 2012. (Accessed at http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/uscs/.)
- Finkelstein E. A, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW et al. Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: payer-and-service-specific estimates. Health Affairs 2009;28:w22-w831.
- Calle E, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun M. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. New England Journal of Medicine 2003;348:1625-38.
- Bergstrom A, Pisani P, Tenet V, Wolk A, Adami HO. Overweight as an avoidable cause of cancer in Europe. Int J Cancer 2001;91:421-30.

- Protani M, Coory M, Martin JH. Effect of obesity on survival of women with breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010;123:627-35.
- Sinicrope FA, Foster NR, Yothers G, et al. Body mass index at diagnosis and survival among colon cancer patients enrolled in clinical trials of adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer 2013;119:1528-36.
- Stroup SP, Cullen J, Auge BK, L'Esperance JO, Kang SK. Effect of obesity on prostate-specific antigen recurrence after radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer as measured by the 2006 Radiation Therapy Oncology Group-American Society for Therapeutic Radiation and Oncology (RTOG-ASTRO) Phoenix consensus definition. Cancer 2007;110:1003-9.
- Efstathiou JA, Bae K, Shipley WU, et al. Obesity and mortality in men with locally advanced prostate cancer: analysis of RTOG 85-31. Cancer 2007;110:2691-9.
- Kroenke C, Chen W, Rosner B, Holmes M. Weight, weight gain, and survival after breast cancer diagnosis. Journal of Applied Physiology 2005;23:1370-8.
- Caan B, Emond J, Natarajan L, et al. Postdiagnosis weight gain and breast cancer recurrence in women with early stage breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2006;99:47-57.
- Meyerhardt J, Catalano P, Haller D, et al. Influence of body mass index on outcomes and treatment-related toxicity in patients with colon carcinoma. Cancer 2003;98:484-95.
- Travis LB, Demark Wahnefried W, Allan JM, Wood ME, Ng AK. Aetiology, genetics and prevention of secondary neoplasms in adult cancer survivors. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology 2013;10:289-301.

- Goodwin PJ, Boyd NF. Body size and breast cancer prognosis: a critical review of the evidence. Breast cancer research and treatment 1990;16:205-14.
- 20. Chlebowski RT, Aiello E, McTiernan A. Weight loss in breast cancer patient management. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:1128-43.
- 21. Sparano JA, Wang M, Zhao F, et al. Obesity at diagnosis is associated with inferior outcomes in hormone receptor-positive operable breast cancer. Cancer 2012.
- 22. Ewertz M, Gray KP, Regan MM, et al. Obesity and risk of recurrence or death after adjuvant endocrine therapy with letrozole or tamoxifen in the breast international group 1-98 trial. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:3967-75.
- Sestak I, Distler W, Forbes JF, Dowsett M, Howell A, Cuzick J. Effect of body mass index on recurrences in tamoxifen and anastrozole treated women: an exploratory analysis from the ATAC trial. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3411-5.
- 24. Pfeiler G, Königsberg R, Fesl C, et al. Impact of body mass index on the efficacy of endocrine therapy in premenopausal patients with breast cancer: an analysis of the prospective ABCSG-12 trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:2653-9.
- 25. Dignam J, Polite BN, Yothers G, et al. Body mass index and outcomes in patients who receive adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:1647-54.
- Gong Z, Neuhouser ML, Goodman PJ, et al. Obesity, diabetes, and risk of prostate cancer: Results from the Prostate Cancer Prevention Trial. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006;15:1977-83.
- Wright M, Chang SC, Schatzkin A, et al. Prospective study of adiposity and weight change in relation to prostate cancer indicence and mortality. Cancer 2007;109:675-84.

- Butturini AM, Dorey FJ, Lange BJ, et al. Obesity and Outcome in Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:2063-9.
- 29. Lange BJ, Gerbing RB, Feusner J, et al. Mortality in overweight and underweight children with acute myeloid leukemia. JAMA 2005;293:203-11.
- Bulley S, Gassas A, Dupuis LL, et al. Inferior outcomes for overweight children undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation. British Journal of Haematology 2008;140:214-7.
- Deeg H, Seidel K, Bruemmer B, Pepe M, Appelbaum F. Impact of patient weight on nonrelapse mortality after marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplantation 1995;15:461-8.
- Dickson TMC, Kusnierz-Glaz CR, Blume KG, et al. Impact of admission body weight and chemotherapy dose adjustment on the outcome of autologous bone marrow transplantation. Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation 1999;5:299-305.
- Fleming DR, Rayens MK, Garrison J. Impact of obesity on allogeneic stem cell transplant patients: A matched case-controlled study. The American Journal of Medicine 1997;102:265-8.
- Nakao M, Chihara D, Niimi A, et al. Impact of being overweight on outcomes of hematopoietic SCT: a meta-analysis. Bone Marrow Transplantation 2014;49:66-72.
- 35. White M, Murphy A, Hallahan A, Ware R, Fraser C, Davies P. Survival in overweight and underweight children undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2012;66:1120-3.
- Wee CC, McCarthy EP, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Screening for cervical and breast cancer: is obesity an unrecognized barrier to preventive care? Annals of Internal Medicine 2000;132:697-704.

- Maruthur NM, Bolen S, Brancati FL, Clark JM. Obesity and mammography: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2009;24:665-77.
- Rosen AB, Schneider EC. Colorectal cancer screening disparities related to obesity and gender. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2004;19:332-8.
- Maruthur NM, Bolen SD, Brancati FL, Clark JM. The Association of Obesity and Cervical Cancer Screening: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. Obesity 2009;17:375-81.
- Maruthur NM, Bolen S, Gudzune K, Brancati FL, Clark JM. Body mass index and colon cancer screening: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention 2012;21:737-46.
- 41. Fagan H, Wender R, Myers RE, et al. Obesity and cancer screening according to race and gender. J Obes 2011;2011:218250.
- Chang IH, Ahn SH, Han JH, Kim TH, Kim YS, Myung SC. The clinical significance in healthy men of the association between obesity related plasma hemodilution and tumor marker concentration. J Urol 2009;181:567-72; discussion 72-3.
- Hijazi H, Magné N, Levy A, et al. Features of cancer management in obese patients. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 2013;85:193-205.
- 44. Modica MJ, Kanal KM, Gunn ML. The obese emergency patient: imaging challenges and solutions. Radiographics 2011;31:811-23.
- 45. Lin LL, Hertan L, Rengan R, Teo BK. Effect of body mass index on magnitude of setup errors in patients treated with adjuvant radiotherapy for endometrial cancer with daily image guidance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:670-5.

- Choi M, Fuller CD, Wang SJ, et al. Effect of body mass index on shifts in ultrasound-based imageguided intensity-modulated radiation therapy for abdominal malignancies. Radiother Oncol 2009;91:114-9.
- Mullen JT, Davenport DL, Hutter MM, et al. Impact of body mass index on perioperative outcomes in patients undergoing major intraabdominal cancer surgery. Annals of Surgical Oncology 2008;15:2164-72.
- Wu X, Wu WG, Li ML, et al. Impact of being overweight on the surgical outcomes of patients with gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2013;19:4596-606.
- Dorn P, Corbin KS, Al-Hallaq H, et al. Feasibility and acute toxicity of hypofractionated radiation in large-breasted patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012;83:79-83.
- 50. Ridner S, Dietrich MS, Stewart BR, et al. Body mass index and breast cancer treatment-related lymphedema. Support Cancer Care 2011;19:853-7.
- Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, Fisher RI, Kuderer NM, Lyman GH. Thromboembolism in hospitalized neutropenic cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:484-90.
- 52. Reddy SM, Sadim M, Li J, et al. Clinical and genetic predictors of weight gain in patients diagnosed with breast cancer. British Journal of Cancer 2013;109:872-81.
- Caan BJ, Kwan ML, Shu XO, et al. Weight change and survival after breast cancer in the after breast cancer pooling project. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention 2012;21:1260-71.
- 54. Sestak I, Harvie M, Howell A, Forbes JF, Dowsett M, Cuzick J. Weight change associated with anastrozole and tamoxifen treatment in postmenopausal women with or at high risk of developing breast cancer. Breast cancer research and treatment 2012;134:727-34.

- Smith MR, Finkelstein JS, McGovern FJ, et al. Changes in body composition during androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2002;87:599-603.
- Timilshina N, Breunis H, Alibhai S. Impact of androgen deprivation therapy on depressive symptoms in men with nonmetastatic prostate cancer. Cancer 2012;118:1940-5.
- 57. Blanchard CM, Courneya KS, Stein K. Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2198-204.
- Mayer DK, Terrin NC, Menon U, et al. Health behaviors in cancer survivors. In: Oncology nursing forum; 2007: Onc Nurs Society; 2007. p. 643-51.
- 59. Courneya KS. Exercise in cancer survivors: an overview of research. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2003;35:1846-52.
- 60. Fuemmeler BF, Pendzich MK, Clark K, et al. Diet, physical activity, and body composition changes during the first year of treatment for childhood acute leukemia and lymphoma. Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology 2013;35:437-43.
- 61. Badr H, Chandra J, Paxton RJ, et al. Healthrelated quality of life, lifestyle behaviors, and intervention preferences of survivors of childhood cancer. Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice 2013.
- 62. Cohen J, Wakefield CE, Fleming CA, Gawthorne R, Tapsell LC, Cohn RJ. Dietary intake after treatment in child cancer survivors. Pediatric Blood & Cancer 2012;58:752-7.
- 63. Demark-Wahnefried W, Werner C, Clipp EC, et al. Survivors of childhood cancer and their guardians. Cancer 2005;103:2171-80.

- 64. Robien K, Ness KK, Klesges LM, Baker KS, Gurney JG. Poor adherence to dietary guidelines among adult survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Journal of Pediatric Hematology/ Oncology 2008;30:815-22.
- 65. Rueegg CS, Gianinazzi ME, Michel G, von der Weid NX, Bergstraesser E, Kuehni CE. Do childhood cancer survivors with physical performance limitations reach healthy activity levels? Pediatric Blood & Cancer 2013;60:1714-20.
- Stolley MR, Restrepo J, Sharp LK. Diet and physical activity in childhood cancer survivors: a review of the literature. Annals of Behavioral Medicine : a Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine 2010;39:232-49.
- 67. Tonorezos ES, Robien K, Eshelman-Kent D, et al. Contribution of diet and physical activity to metabolic parameters among survivors of childhood leukemia. Cancer Causes & Control: CCC 2013;24:313-21.
- van Waas M, Wijnen M, Hartman A, et al. Daily life physical activity in long-term survivors of nephroblastoma and neuroblastoma. Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology 2013;35:361-5.
- 69. Segal R, Pond G, Vallis M, et al. Randomized trial of a lifestyle intervention for women with earlystage breast cancer (BC) receiving adjuvant hormone therapy: Initial results. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:abstr 512.
- 70. Thomson CA, Stopeck AT, Bea JW, et al. Changes in body weight and metabolic indexes in overweight breast cancer survivors enrolled in a randomized trial of low-fat vs. reduced carbohydrate diets. Nutr Cancer;62:1142-52.
- Campbell KL, Foster-Schubert KE, Alfano CM, et al. Reduced-calorie dietary weight loss, exercise, and sex hormones in postmenopausal women: randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2314-26.

- 72. Befort CA, Klemp JR, Austin HL, et al. Outcomes of a weight loss intervention among rural breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2012;132:631-9.
- The practical guide: identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, 2011.
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Conner E, Fowler SE, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002;346:393-403.
- 75. Mefferd K, Nichols J, Pakiz B, Rock C. A cognitive behavioral therapy intervention to promote weight loss improves body composition and blood lipid profiles among overweight breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2007;104:145-52.
- 76. Goldstein DJ. Beneficial health effects of modest weight loss. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders: journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 1992;16:397-415.

- Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood environments: disparities in access to healthy foods in the US. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2009;36:74-81. e10.
- Bleich SN, Bennett WL, Gudzune KA, Cooper LA. Impact of physician BMI on obesity care and beliefs. Obesity 2012;20:999-1005.
- McBride C, Puleo E, Pollak KI, Clipp EC, Woolford S, Emmons KM. Understanding the role of cancer worry in creating a "teachable moment" for multiple risk factor reduction. Soc Sco Med 2008;66:790-800.
- McBride C, Clipp E, Peterson BL, et al. Psychological impact of diagnosis and risk reduction among cancer survivors. Psycho Oncol 2000;9:418-27.
- Lee J, Sheer JL, Lopez N, et al. Coverage of obesity treatment: a state-by-state analysis of Medicaid and state insurance laws. Public Health Rep 2010;125:596-604.

American Society of Clinical Oncology

2318 Mill Road, Suite 800 | Alexandria, VA 22314 Phone: 571 483 1300 | Fax: 571 366 9530 www.asco.org | www.cancer.net

© 2014 American Society of Clinical Oncology. For permissions information, contact permissions@asco.org.